IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-783

LEWIS Y. and BETTY T. WARD, et al,

Petitioners,

Lower Tribunals:

First District Court of Appeal,

Case No.: 1D02-3265

v.

Santa Rosa County 1st Judicial Circuit, Case: 2001 CA 892

GREGORY S. BROWN, Property Appraiser of Santa Rosa County, et al,

Respondents.

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

Donald H. Partington William H. Stafford, III LARRY, BOND & STACKHOUSE CLARK, PARTINGTON, HART Post Office Box 13010 Pensacola, Florida 32591-3010 Benjamin K. Phipps THE PHIPPS FIRM Post Office Box 1351 Tallahassee, Florida 32302

Joseph C. Mellichamp, III Daniel C. Brown CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Post Office Drawer 190 Tallahassee, Florida 32302

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a declaratory action involving a challenge to the misclassification of Petitioners' intangible leasehold interests and is not an assessment challenge nor is it an action seeking an exemption.

The Petitioners brought a class action to challenge an error of omission or commission on the part of the property appraiser that resulted in the misclassification of the Petitioners' intangible leasehold interests as being real property. The misclassification resulted in the Petitioners' intangible leasehold interests being subject to county ad valorem taxes, as opposed to state intangible taxes. The Petitioners' leaseholds had been classified as intangible personal property for the preceding 20 years, in compliance with the legislative mandate set out in Section 196.199(2)(b) and 199.023(1)(d), Florida Statutes. The trial court determined that the members of the proposed class were time barred from bringing this challenge pursuant to Section 194.171(2), Florida Statutes, and struck the allegations relating to the class action. The District Court affirmed. A conformed copy of that decision is attached as Appendix "A."

A Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court was filed and a jurisdictional brief was submitted arguing that a challenge to the classification of property is not subject to the 60-day period for filing required by Section 194.171(2). The First District Court of Appeal had dismissed the distinction between classification and assessment as mere "semantic arguments," stating the Petitioners were actually seeking an exemption and that exemption determinations were assessments. App.

"A," p. 2.

The decision of the First District Court expressly and directly conflicts with decisions form the Second, Fourth, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal on the same issue of law — whether the 60-day rule of Section 194.171(2) applies to cases involving the misclassification of property. The decision of the First District Court is even at odds with one of its earlier decisions. This Court accepted jurisdiction, setting the case for oral argument and fixing the briefing schedule.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court held (and the district court affirmed), without addressing any issues of class certification, that the court "did not have jurisdiction to entertain a lawsuit on behalf of the putative class members" and struck the class action lawsuit. The trial court's and district court's decisions both turn on the lack of jurisdiction due to untimeliness, a purely legal determination. *See Execu-Tech Business Systems, Inc. v. New Oji Paper Co., Ltd*, 752 So.2d 582, 583-84 (Fla. 2000) (dismissal of class action based on lack of jurisdiction subject to *do novo* standard of review). Therefore, this appeal presents a pure question of law, which must be resolved under the *de novo* of standard review. *See Whigum v. Heilig-Meyers Furniture, Inc.*, 682 So.2d 643, 645-46 (1 DCA 1996).

Moreover, because the trial court exercised no discretion in determining the actual merits of whether the class met the class action requirements of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.220, the abuse of discretion standard does not apply.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The imposition of taxes is a sovereign function to be exercised with restraint, permitted only when there has been an express and explicit legislative authorization. Hence, when tax impositions are challenged, the burden is on the taxing authorities to prove that the tax and its manner of imposition are strictly in compliance with a clearly enunciated legislative intent. The appellate decisions recognizing the distinctness of classification challenges have adhered to this principle while reconciling statutes with arguable conflicting time limits. In applying these guidelines of statutory interpretation they have avoided the constitutional infirmities inherent in the First District decision in this case.

Challenges to the misclassification of property are not subject to the 60-day time limit of Section 194.171(2). Numerous appellate decisions have adopted the rule of law and have held that classification cases are subject to the time limits imposed by the statutes under which they are brought or under the general statutes of limitations of Chapter 95, Florida Statutes. They are not subject to the 60-day rule of Section 194.171(2) which is controlling only in contests to individual tax assessments based on overvaluation or exemption denial. Those decisions should be upheld by this Court.

The property which is the subject of this action, governmental leaseholds on Santa Rosa Island, has been the subject of several classification permutations by the Florida Legislature. The 2001 reclassification of approximately 800 such leaseholds

by the Santa Rosa Property Appraiser is a classic case of impermissible reclassification. This misclassification was not merely the denial of an exemption as the First District characterized it, App. "A," p. 3; the legislature classification does not exempt those leaseholds, it subjects them to a different form of tax — the state intangible tax.

The First District attempted to distinguish the decisions of its sister courts, and its own earlier decision, by characterizing classification challenges not subject to Section 194.171(2) as occurring only where a property appraiser had made, and admitted, an inadvertent mistake of fact. This is not the test, nor is it the holding of any of the cases. The test is to show an act of omission or commission on the part of the property appraiser or the tax collector. The distinction between mistakes of fact and errors in judgment which control statutory "back-assessments" plays no part in distinguishing classification challenges and assessment contests.

When a misclassification occurs, or when a massive reclassification has been made after the class was undisturbed for 20 years, as occurred here, due process and access to the courts may be denied, from a practical standpoint, because all on whom the taxes are to be imposed will not be able to initiate individual challenges within the narrow 60-day period.

ARGUMENT

I. Misclassification Challenges Are Not Subject To The 60-Day Limitation of Section 194.171; They Are Subject To The Time Limitation Of The Statute Under Which They Are Brought. Challenges to the misclassification of property are not subject to the 60-day rule, but are governed by the time limits imposed under Sections 197.122 and 197.182. One of these two statutes is the usual basis for misclassification challenges. Over the last several years, a significant body of case law has developed recognizing that the harsh time bar of 194.171(2) does not apply in misclassification challenges. Cases involving a contest to a tax assessment are governed by Section 194.171, Florida Statute, including the 60-day statute of nonclaim in subsection (2) of that statute.

The latest decision recognizing that the 60-day rule of Section 194.171(2), does not apply in cases of misclassification, is the recent decision of the Second District is *Department of Revenue and Tedder v. Pepperidge Farms, Inc.*, 847 So.2d 575 (2 DCA 2003). Like this case, *Pepperidge Farms* involved the misclassification of intangible personal property. Also like this case, it was a class action for all taxpayers in the county whose property had been so misclassified. The Department and the Tax Collector (Tedder) moved to dismiss the complaint on the basis that it should have been brought within 60 days as required under 194.171(2). Pepperidge Farm, the class representative, was not challenging the assessment of its property, but instead was challenging the classification by the property appraiser of its property as tangible personal property, rather than as intangible personal property as it had been defined by the legislature. Its action sought a refund within the four-year period allowed under Section 197.182.

The Second District agreed that Pepperidge Farm's lawsuit did not challenge the property appraiser's assessment of the value of the subject property, but challenged the misclassification of the property as tangible personal property rather than intangible personal property. The Second District relied (primarily) on *Sartori v*. *Department of Revenue*, 714 So. 2d 1136 (5 DCA 1998).

The Fifth District was confronted with this same issue of law in *Florida Governmental Utility Authority v. Day*, 784 So.2d 494 (5 DCA 2001). In that case, the court recognized the difference between a challenge to a classification and a challenge to a tax assessment, holding:

However, Florida courts recognize the difference between a claim involving a classification of property, and a claim challenging a tax assessment on property. [citing *Sartori*] A classification claim is not governed under section 194.171; a claim challenging a tax assessment is subject to the statute. [again citing *Sartori*]

784 So.2d 494, at 497.

The off-cited *Sartori* case involved the misclassification of pollution control equipment. The property owner had paid his taxes, under protest, and then had sought a refund through the county tax collector. The Department denied permission to the tax collector to grant the refund, claiming the case had not been filed within the 60 days required under Section 194.171(2). Sartori then filed a declaratory judgment action. The Fifth District held that the action challenged the classification of property, not the tax assessment, and therefore the action was not subject to the 60-day limitation of 194.171(2), citing *Department of Revenue v. Gerald Sohn*, 654 So. 2d 249 (1 DCA 1995). The District Court determined that Sartori had four years to institute his lawsuit seeking a refund as provided under Section 197.182.

In 1999, the Fourth District joined the other districts, on the same issue of law, in recognizing the difference between classification actions and assessment contests.

That case involved a refund on a tax certificate, issued on property which was misclassified condominium common element property. That district court, also citing *Sohn*, held that actions involving the classification of property are not subject to the 60-day rule of 194.171(2). *Bankunited Financial Corp. et al v. Markham, et al*, 763 So.2d 1072 (4 DCA 1999).

The *Sohn* case also involved an investor in tax certificates who brought the action under Section 197.122(1). The Department had denied his claim stating he was barred under the 60-day rule of Section 194.171(2). The First District held that actions brought to reclassify property, misclassified by the property appraiser, are not subject to that 60-day limitation.

The instant case, like *Sartori, BankUnited, Florida Government Utility,* and *Pepperidge Farms*, is a declaratory judgment action brought pursuant to Chapter 86, Florida Statutes, challenging the property appraiser's misclassification of the Petitioners' intangible leasehold interest and is not a challenge to an assessment. Further, this action involves a challenge to the misclassification of the property authorized under Section 197.122(1), Florida Statutes. The Department of Revenue's Rule 12D-8.021, Florida Administrative Code, specifies areas that "shall be subject to correction" and includes in subparagraph 7, "errors in classification of property". This rule is applicable to the instant case as it was in the *Sartori, BankUnited, Florida Government Utility*, and *Pepperidge Farms* cases.

II. The Legislature Has Classified Government Leaseholds, They Are A Separate Class Of Property.

¹ The rule cites Section 197.122, Florida Statutes, as "specific authority."

The classification of leaseholds held by private parties on lands owned by various governmental entities has been a subject of considerable legislative and judicial interest for nearly 50 years. While leaseholds in private property have always been merged into the leased fee interest for Florida ad valorem tax purposes, "government leaseholds" have been severed and the subject of several legislative classifications over the years.

When the Supreme Court decided *Park-N-Shop v. Sparkman* in 1957², a leasehold of a parcel of real property owned by an immune governmental entity was no different than a leasehold in any other type of property. In Florida, under common law, leaseholds of all types of property were called chattels real, or sometimes, incorporeal chattels. *Park-N-Shop* involved the site of the former Hillsborough County courthouse which had been leased out to a private parking lot operator. Local governments had attempted to impose ad valorem tax on the leasehold, treating it as tangible personal property. This Court ruled that the property, which still belonged to the county, was immune. Because the legislature had not classified government leaseholds as either tangible personal property or as intangible personal property under the then existing statutes, the leasehold could not be separated and taxed. The Supreme Court suggested that government leaseholds could be severed and classified so as to make them taxable, by the legislature, if it chose to do so.

In response to that suggestion, the Legislature, in 1961, classified leases of government owned personal property as personal property, and leaseholds in

² 99 So.2d 571.

governmental real property as real property, for ad valorem tax purposes. Ch. 61-266, Laws of Florida, creating §192.62, Fla. Stats. (1961). This reclassification of government leaseholds did not apply when the property was being used for various governmental, public, municipal, or charitable purposes, nor did the reclassification apply to any of the leaseholds of county owned property on Santa Rosa Island. §192.62(1)(i), Fla. Stats. (1961).³ Thus, the sovereign immunity from taxation had been waived for certain governmental leases by classifying them as real property. Other governmental leases (including those on Santa Rosa Island) continued to be treated as common law leases and retained their immunity. That law remained in effect until 1971 when it was rewritten in its entirety.

The 1971 Legislation extended the waiver of sovereign immunity, and included the Santa Rosa Island leases in the classification of taxable real property for the first time. The holders of those leases challenged the constitutionality of this legislative reclassification of their leaseholds, on the basis that it impaired their existing contractual rights. *Williams v. Jones*, 326 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1975), *appeal dismissed*, 429 U.S. 803, 97 S. Ct. 34, 50 L.Ed.2d 63 (1976). In that case, this Court upheld the right of the legislature to reclassify government leaseholds as taxable real estate. As a result of that legislation and the decision in *Williams v. Jones*, the leasehold interests

_

³ At that time, Santa Rosa Island has such leaseholds in Escambia, Santa Rosa, and Okaloosa Counties, according to this statute. All property on Santa Rosa Island in Escambia and Santa Rosa Island are still held through government leaseholds from those counties today. At some point, the leaseholders in Okaloosa County were afforded the opportunity to purchase the leased fee in their property and today the property on Santa Rosa Island in Okaloosa County is held in fee simple. The leaseholders in Escambia and Santa Rosa County have not been allowed the same opportunity.

on Santa Rosa Island, in Escambia, Santa Rosa, and Okaloosa Counties, became taxable for the first time, and remained so classified for the next ten years.

In 1980, the legislature again reclassified taxable leasehold interests by including them in the definition of "intangible personal property." This 1980 reclassification was recognized by this Court in *Capital City Country Club v. Tucker*, 613 So.2d 448, 452 (Fla. 1993), "[t]he intangible tax is being imposed on the rights afforded to the club under the lease." The classification of the Santa Rosa Island property in Escambia County, as intangibles, was also specifically recognized in the case of *Bell v. Bryan*, 505 So.2d 690 (1 DCA 1997).

Tax classification passes constitutional muster so long as there is any reasonable basis for that classification. *Nordlinger v. Hahn*, 505 U.S. 1, 112 S.Ct. 2326, 120 L.Ed.2d 1. That the classification of taxable leaseholds as intangible personal property was suggested by this Court in *Park-N-Shop* pretty well closes out any argument about the reasonable basis of the legislative action in 1980.

General law requires the Department of Revenue to classify real property into ten specific classes, one of which is [government] leasehold interests. §195.073(1)(i), Fla. Stats. The Department has implemented this requirement under Rule 12D-8.008(2)(b), Florida Administrative Code:

- (b) Real property shall be classified in ten major groups. The classification "residential" shall be subclassified into two categories homestead and non-homestead property. The major groups are:
 - 1. Residential
 - a. Homestead
 - b. Non-Homestead
 - 2. Commercial and Industrial
 - 3. Agricultural

- 4.
- Exempt, wholly or partially Leasehold Interest (Government owned) *5*.
- 6. Other
- Centrally Assessed 7.
- Non-Agriculture Acreage 8.
- Time-share Property High-water recharge 9.
- 10.

(Emphasis added)

III. Classification Challenges Are Actions To Correct Errors Of Omission Or Commission.

The cases which have dealt with classification issues have generally been declaratory judgment actions authorized under Section 197.122(1), Florida Statues. The language of that statute (first enacted in the 19th Century) is, "acts of omission or commission on the part of any property appraiser, tax collector, • • • may be corrected at anytime • • • ." The cases have determined that classification errors, admitted or not, are such "acts of omission or commission" and that they are mistakes of fact.

In *Sartori*, the court held that the declaratory judgment action was not time barred (under §194.171(2)) because the lawsuit did not contest a tax assessment but challenged the classification of the property which would affect value. 714 So.2d 1136, at 1139. The First District Court, in this case, stated that denials of exemptions are always "assessments." App. "A," p. 3. We agree, but this case does not involve an exemption denied.

In *Sohn*, the First District Court ruled that errors of classification are acts of omission or commission and are mistakes of fact. 654 So.2d 249, at 251. *BankUnited* discussed the errors subject to correction under Rule 12D-8.021, which like the statute (§197.122), uses the term, "errors of omission or commission." 763 So.2d 1072, 1074. *Florida Government Utilities* was also based on "errors of omission and commission" under Rule 12D-8.021, because of the property appraiser's failure to timely classify property of a government when it was acquired. 784 So.2d 494, at 497 fn 4.

The *Pepperidge Farm* court based its decision on *Sartori* and stated:

We agree with Pepperidge Farms that its lawsuit does not challenge the property appraiser's exercise of judgment in assessing the value of its computer software, but rather, that it challenges the classification of its computer software as tangible personal property.

847 So.2d 575 (2 DCA 2003), at 576. Pepperidge Farm was relying on the statutory definition of intangible personal property. §192.001(19), Fla. Stats. There is no challenge to the exercise of the property appraiser's judgment of value of the subject leaseholds as real property in this case. This declaratory judgment action is to correct his misclassification of these leaseholds as real property. Rule 12D-8.021 of the Florida Administrative Code and the case law all characterize misclassification of property as errors of omission or commission, correctable "at anytime" under Section 197.122(1). Misclassification cases are not actions to overturn a property appraiser's exercise of judgment.

The decision by the First District Court, insisting that the plaintiffs in this case were merely contesting the denial of an exemption under chapter 196 (App. "A," p. 3), is a total rejection of its own *Sohn* case and its progeny, Rule 12D-8.021, Section 197.122, and all other authorities recognizing the classification errors are "errors of omission or commission," correctable in declaratory judgment cases at any time permitted under chapter 95, Florida Statutes.

The First District Court erred in confusing classification cases with the rule governing statutory "back-assessments" of tax. There is a statutory provision which allows back-assessments (for a period of up to three years) of property which has "escaped" taxation. §193.092, Fla. Stats. Case law has permitted back-assessments

in only those situations where the property appraiser has attempted to correct mistakes of fact (errors of omission or commission) and prohibits back-assessments where the property appraiser has changed his or her mind. In the latter case, the mistake is considered a mistake in judgment and no retroactive change is permitted. For example, a property appraiser cannot change his or her mind and back-assess a property which he or she has granted an exemption in error. *Underhill v. Edwards*, 400 So.2d 129 (5 DCA 1981), *rev. den.* 411 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1981).

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