IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-783 First District Court of Appeal Case No. 1D02-3265

LEWIS Y. and BETTY WARD, et al, *Petitioners*,

v.

GREGORY BROWN, Property Appraiser of Santa Rosa County, et al, *Respondents*.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT GREGORY BROWN

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Elliott Messer, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 054461
Thomas Findley, Esq.
Florida Bar. No. 0797855
Messer, Caparello & Self, P.A.
215 S. Monroe Street, Suite 701
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
Telephone (850)222-0720

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

The Petitioners persist in an argument that this case does not involve an To the extent this distinction is relevant, this Court has exemption question. determined that the characterization of the Petitioners' interests as intangible property would constitute an "exemption." In Williams v. Jones, similarly situated taxpayers on Santa Rosa Island, operating under identical facts, argued that they should be subject only to intangibles tax. This Court held: "Basically, the appellants contend for a constitutional exemption from ad valorem real estate taxation " Id. at 432 (emphasis added). Again, in Archer v. Marshall, 355 So.2d 781, 784 (Fla. 1978), this Court relied upon Article VII, Section 3, to conclude that a special law designed to provide similar tax relief to Santa Rosa Island property owners had "the effect of a tax exemption," which was not authorized by the Florida Constitution. (emphasis added). See also AM FI Investment Corp v. Kinney, 360 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1978). Thus, the Petitioners are requesting that their property be exempt from real property tax assessment. As this Court held in Neptune Hollywood Beach Club, the 60-day period of non-claim applies even when one argues that the property is not subject to tax at all.

2. There is no statutory basis for the Petitioners' position that a 4-year limitations period applies to the challenged assessments.

The Petitioners cite four statutes in their discussion of the applicable statute of non-claim or limitations. These statutes are quoted in pertinent part below. A

review of the precise language of these statutes, however, reveals that only section 194.171, Florida Statutes, applies to the challenge in the case at bar.

Section 194.171, entitled "<u>Circuit court to have jurisdiction in tax cases</u>," provides in pertinent part:

- (2) No action shall be brought to contest a tax assessment after 60 days from the date the assessment being contested is certified for collection
 - (5) The requirements of subsection (2) are jurisdictional

Section 197.182, entitled "<u>Department of Revenue to pass upon and order refunds,</u>" provides in pertinent part:

(c) Claims for refunds shall be made in accordance with the rules of the department [of Revenue]. No refund shall be granted unless claim is made therefor within 4 years of January 1 of the tax year for which the taxes were paid.

Section 95.11(3)(m) provides in pertinent part:

Actions other than for recovery of real property shall be commenced as follows: ... (3) WITHIN FOUR YEARS ... (m) An action for money paid to any governmental authority by mistake or inadvertence.

Section 197.182, Florida Statutes, provides no authority for a challenge to a tax classification absent an overpayment. Here, there has been no overpayment. In fact, there has been no payment at all. Moreover, no administrative refund claim has been made with the Department of Revenue (presumably because they paid no tax), nor have the Petitioners named the Department of Revenue in their lawsuit. Thus,

section 197.182 provides no statutory basis for the Petitioner's claim to a 4-year limitations period.

The Petitioners argue that section 95.11(3)(m), Florida Statutes, provides a 4year limitations period for actions under section 197.122, Florida Statutes. Petitioners' Brief, p. 20. Section 197.122 contains no period of limitation or nonclaim, and simply permits the property appraiser to correct a "material mistake of fact" if the property appraiser deems it necessary. Here, no mistake of fact has occurred. Moreover, section 197.122 does not provide any authority for a taxpayer suit. Nevertheless, the Petitioners argue that the general limitations period of section 95.11(3)(m) applies in the context of declaratory judgment actions involving section 197.122. This argument must fail, however, because section 95.11(3)(m) applies only to actions for "money paid" by "mistake or inadvertence." The Petitioners have paid no money in connection with these assessments. Moreover, the element of paying by mistake or inadvertence has not been pled and cannot be shown. In any event, the specific statute for challenges to property tax assessments, i.e., section 194.171, should control over the Petitioners' convoluted attempt to use the general limitations provisions of section 95.11.

Unlike sections 197.182 and 95.11(3)(m), section 194.171 applies readily to the tax assessments at issue. In fact, the Petitioners pled in the first paragraph of their Amended Complaint that they were proceeding under section 194.171, Florida

Statutes. Thus, Petitioners' characterization of "Argument I," at page 5 of their Brief, that the challenge in this case should be "subject to the time limitation of the statute under which they are brought" leads one directly to their own allegation that they are proceeding under section 194.171, Florida Statutes. Having elected to proceed under that statute, they are bound by the period of non-claim prescribed by that statute.

3. The District Court decisions relied upon by Petitioners do not support their claim that their assessment challenges are subject to a 4-year limitations period.

The Petitioners rely on certain district court decisions that contained critical, factual distinctions with the instant case. The First District Court's opinion examined these factual distinctions in great detail. First, the Petitioners rely on *Sartori v. Department of Revenue*, 714 So.2d 1136 (5th DCA), *rev. denied*, 727 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1998), despite the fact that *Sartori* involved a suit for a refund against the Department of Revenue under section 197.182, which carries the 4-year statute of limitation. Unlike the taxpayers in *Sartori*, the Petitioners have not even named the Department of Revenue in this action and now wish to rely on a statute of limitations under a section entitled "Department of Revenue to pass upon and order refunds." §197.182, Fla. Stat. (2001).

The *Sartori* opinion acknowledged the difference between its facts, which involved an "overpayment," and a situation where one has not paid any tax, but

seeks to challenge "judgments" made by a Property Appraiser. *Id.* at 1140. In *Sartori*, property was valued at fair market value, when it should have been taxed as pollution control equipment, as the result of an inadvertent mistake. As the court noted, the County apparently was "not familiar with" the pertinent provisions of law relating to pollution control equipment and therefore made a mistake in the assessment. After the taxpayer paid his tax, the County "realized that Sartori's tax assessment was improper and, wanting to correct the error, requested that DOR refund Sartori the \$117,354 which he had paid in taxes." *Id.* at 1137. The *Sartori* decision was based on the fact that all parties agreed that an error had occurred due to "mistake or inadvertence." *Id.* at 1139.

The *Sartori* Court also distinguished situations such as the one presented in the instant case in another manner: "Importantly, unlike the taxpayer in *Stafford*, Sartori never contended that the County's assessment was 'unjust,' 'arbitrary,' 'capricious,' or 'illegal.'" *Id.* at 1140. The *Sartori* Court suggested that such challenges would be subject to the 60-day period of non-claim. Unlike the taxpayer in *Sartori*, the Petitioners in this action have alleged that the assessments were "unreasonable, unequal, arbitrary and unlawful." Amended Complaint, par. 29. In this case, the Petitioners challenge a deliberate conclusion reached by the Property Appraiser that the Petitioners' beach homes should be assessed as private property

because these improvements will not vest in the County until the termination of the 99-year leases. Amended Complaint, par. 22-23.

In this case, the Property Appraiser reached his judgment in light of an opinion of the Attorney General provided directly to him about this issue. *Attorney General Opinion* 2001-38. As pointed out in that opinion, Florida case law firmly establishes that a lessee of government land is the owner of all improvements constructed upon such leasehold when the lease states that improvements vest in the government only upon termination of the lease. *Marathon Air Services v Higgs*, 575 So.2d 1340 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991); *Parker v. Hertz Corporation*, 544 So.2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). Thus, the Property Appraiser's decision to assess the Petitioners' improvements was a matter of deliberate judgment, not an inadvertent misclassification.

The Petitioners also rely on *Department of Revenue v. Gerald Sohn*, 654 So.2d 249 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), despite the fact that *Sohn* also was a suit against the Department of Revenue in connection with an alleged overpayment. The *Sohn* decision supports the argument of the Property Appraiser in this action in concluding: "It is clear that mistakes in judgment cannot be corrected after the tax rolls are certified." *Id.* at 251. The Court explained that in order for the issue to be characterized as a classification error subject to a 4-year limitation period, it has to be "an error of omission or commission." *Id.* In direct contradiction to the facts of

the instant case, the deputy property appraiser in *Sohn* submitted an affidavit in which he swore to "errors of *commission* or *omission*, and not errors of *judgment* by the property appraiser." *Id.* (emphasis supplied by Court). In *Sohn*, all parties agreed that there was "no exercise of 'judgment' by the property appraiser." *Id.* The Court described this as the "crucial issue." *Id.* Simply put, errors of judgment of the property appraiser must be challenged within 60 days of the certification of the tax rolls. Only those errors that are acknowledged by the property appraiser to be mistakes of commission or omission are eligible to be corrected under Chapter 197.

The only case cited by the Petitioners which did not involve a refund claim is Florida Government Utility Authority v. Day, 784 So.2d 494 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), rev. denied, 800 So.2d 613 (Fla. 2001). This case appears to be an aberration based on the administrative breakdown in the process for reviewing exemption applications. The decision in that case arose from convoluted facts and the "botched procedures" of the Property Appraiser's office. Id. at 498 (Pleus, J., concurring). In that case, a bona fide governmental utility had purchased property mid-year and wished to obtain an exemption. The Property Appraiser told the utility that it could not file for an exemption because exemption applications had to be filed by March 1st, and the property was purchased after that date. The tax collector informed the utility that the exemption question would be addressed later, upon preparation of the tax roll, at which time the parties could issue a certificate of correction. Id. When

the correction was not issued, the utility immediately informed the property appraiser, who "advised the Utility not to pay that bill" *Id.* at 496. When the exemption was subsequently denied, the utility had no opportunity to challenge the decision within the 60-day period of section 194.171, Florida Statutes.

The *Day* case is a shining example of why hard cases make bad law. Judge Pleus wrote a blistering, concurring opinion expressing concern over the "apparent lack of due diligence on the part of the property appraiser" and the "delays and botched procedures" that caused the problem. *Id.* at 497-98. As reflected in the concurring opinion, the case was actually a case of errors of omission and commission in the administrative process. Such errors fall in the category of "administrative errors," which the Attorney General has opined are subject to correction after the 60-day period of non-claim, unlike errors of judgment which must be challenged within the 60-day period. *Attorney General Opinion* 91-031.²

² Another case cited by the Petitioners was clearly decided in error. In *Bankunited Financial Corp. v. Markham*, 763 So.2d 1072 (4th DCA 1999), the Fourth District mistakenly relied on the overruled case of *Lake Worth Towers, Inc. v. Gerstung*, 262 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1972). The *Lake Worth Towers* case was overruled when the Legislature changed section 194.171 in 1983 to make it a statute of nonclaim. *Bankunited* cited *Lake Worth Towers* for the proposition that a "void" assessment could be challenged outside the 60-day period of section 194.171. This Court in *Neptune Hollywood Beach Club*, however, expressly repudiated *Lake Worth Towers* and its reliance on the "void/voidable" distinction after the 1983 legislative changes. *Bankunited* relied on this overruled case law and is therefore invalid as a precedent.

The Department of Revenue has a rule confirming that the removal or denial of an exemption is a matter of judgment, not an error of omission or commission. Rule 12D-8.021(2)(d), Florida Administrative Code, specifically provides that a property appraiser's act of "removing an exemption" is an act involving the "judgment of the property appraiser." Similarly, in the Attorney General Opinion 91-031, the Attorney General found: "Once the property appraiser has certified the tax rolls . . . no subsequent changes may be made by the property appraiser . . . which result from a change in judgment. While the property appraiser and the tax collector each have the authority to correct errors of omission or commission at any time, this authority is limited to the correction of clerical or administrative **errors.**" The Attorney General confirmed that the provisions of section 197.182 were limited to such clerical or administrative errors, and its provisions were inapplicable to errors of judgment.

The Petitioners suggest that this Court should follow *Department of Revenue* and *Tedder v. Pepperidge Farm, Inc.*, 847 So.2d 575 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003). Yet, the *Pepperidge Farm* also involved a refund action brought under section 197.182, Florida Statutes. Moreover, that decision involved the issue of whether software was tangible or intangible property. In stark contrast, this case involves the issue of whether improvements and buildings, which are indisputably real property, are owned by the Petitioners or the government. This is a case of identifying the owner

of a building, not a question of classifying a type of property. Although the cases are not analogous, the *Pepperidge Farm* decision is wrongly decided in purporting to discern a separate statute of limitations for "classification" questions, when there is no statutory basis for doing so. As this Court held in *Neptune Hollywood Beach Club*, and the Fourth District Court held in *Stafford*, there is only one statute that provides a period of non-claim for real property tax assessments. That statute is section 194.171, Florida Statutes, which applies to all property tax challenges, whether directed to value or to whether property tax even applies to the property at issue. The First District correctly concluded that the Petitioners' effort to add plaintiffs after the 60-day period had expired was barred by section 194.171, Florida Statutes.

II. THE PETITIONERS DID NOT RAISE THE ISSUE OF "ACCESS TO COURTS" IN THE TRIAL COURT OR IN THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL; THEREFORE, THAT ISSUE IS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR APPEAL.

The Petitioners' suggestion that a 60-day period is too short to allow constitutional access to courts and due process was not briefed or raised in any manner in the trial court or the First District Court of Appeal. The opinion under review does not address the issue. Therefore, this issue has not been preserved for appeal.

Generally, an argument must be raised in the lower tribunal in order to preserve an issue for appeal. The only exception relates to "fundamental error." For an error to be fundamental error, it must relate to the merits of the cause of action. *Sanford v. Rubin*, 237 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1970). This new argument of the Petitioners does not relate to the merits of the action, but instead to the Petitioners' ability to convert their case into a class action. This Court has previously ruled that the failure to raise an issue of "access to courts" was waived when raised for the first time on appeal. *Henderson v. Singletary*, 617 So.2d 313 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 113 S.Ct. 1891 (1993).

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